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[TepiAnyn :

Danubian port initially part of the Principality of Moldavia, suzerain to the Ottoman Empire, and from 1859 of united Romania,
which became an important import-export centre from the early 1830s onwards, when it was connected to the markets of Western
Europe. The Greek community, dominated by Chian and |onian wholesale merchants, was one of the most powerful in the city;
since 1864, when it was officially founded, it constructed the church of the Transfiguration and established communal schools, while
it also demonstrated a notable intellectual activity with associations, printing houses and educational foundations.
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1. Human geography

Galati is located in Southern Moldavia, 180 km from the Black Sea. It is a port on the junction of two rivers, the Danube and the Siret
(Bistrita), very close to the former’s junction with the river Prut, south of the lake Brates. It is connected via railway to Bucharest and
viamotorway to most of the Romanian cities. The Greek name “Galazion” is a corrupt pronunciation, or rather an archaism, of the
Romanian name Galati.

Its commercial development led to the location of many foreigners, mainly Greeks, Armenians and Jews, who aong with Romanians
congtituted the main ethnic-religious groups in the city as early as the 18th century. The lack of statistics, however, prevents the
determination of their number. Considering the circumstances regarding the area, Galati was at the beginning of the 19th century and
from a demographical point of view an important urban centre of ca. 8,000 inhabitants. Information on the exact number of Greeks
residing in the city during the first half of the 19th century is scarce and not always definite. It isincontestable, however, that many
Chians, Kephalonians and Ithacans had located in Galati, the total population of which had rocketed to 26,050 in 1859 making it the
fifth greatest city of the United Principalities (Moldavia-Wallachia). This demographical change was due not only to the indisputable
increase in the number of Romanians settling in the city, but also because of the arrival of many foreigners, mainly Greeks, Italians and

Jews.!

The second half of the 19th century and until World War | Galati demonstrated, despite the fact that Galati’s importance as a
commercial centre had degraded after 1878, a notable demographic increase and from 1899 onwards Galati was the fourth largest
city in the country. Specifically, 62,545 people inhabited Galati, the majority naturally being Romanians (38,283), even though the
presence of foreigners was strong. There were many Jews (ca. 13,520), followed by subjects of Austria-Hungary, quite often
Romanians of Transylvania (3,825) and Greek subjects (3,587). Russians, Germans and Ottomans al'so resided in town.2 To indicate
the speed at which the population was increasing, afact evident in al of the Danubian cities of Romania, it is worth mentioning that

40,022 people were living intown in 1882.3
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Galati, however, as most of the Moldavian cities, faced a relative demographic deadlock during the Interwar period, since its
population rose from 101,148 inhabitants in 1930 to just 102,311 in 1937 and dropped to 90,137 in 1941. The economic reform

during the Postwar period led to a population increase and in 1973 the inhabitants amounted to 179,189.4

Greeks living in town originated from many places, but |onians were the magjority. Indeed, according to data from the consulate, in
1885 out of the 1,556 adult male Greek subjects, 686 came from Kephalonia, Ithaca and Paxoi islands, while many of the rest

originated from the Cyclades (378).°
2. History

Information about Galati dates back to the 15th century, even though it is possible that some kind of settlement had aready been built
as early as the previous century. It was asmall, but significant commercia but mainly fishing centre, considering the restricted capacity
of the local economy, strongly supported by the Moldavian princes, especialy since the other important commercial cities of the
Principdlity, like Kiliya and Cetatea Alba (Akkerman-Asprokastro, today Bilhorod-Dnistrovs'kyi), had been occupied by the
Ottomans. Gradually, from the middle of the 17th century, Galati developed in the shipping and ship-building. Ships from many areas
of the Ottoman Empire (Egypt, Smyrna) arrived at the port, and so did ships from Western Europe and Italy from 1774, when some
of the prohibitions concerning the entrance of foreign, i.e. European, ships to the Danube had been revoked by the Porte. Indeed,
during that time many Greeks from the lonian Islands, who since 1814 were considered British subjects, settled in town participating
greatly in the establishment of strong commercial relations between the portal city on one part and the Central and Western European

countries on the other.®

Except its financial significance, Gaati was also one of the centres of the secret society Society of Friends (Filiki Etaireia). Among
the many Greeks initiated was the city’s military commandant Vasileios Karavias, who fought off the Turksin February 1821. The

Ottoman army repossessed Galati in May with heavy losses among the non-belligerent population.”

The city boomed especially from 1829 onwards, since the Treaty of Adrianople (Edirne) determined that the grain trade would be free
of restrictions, while a further push was given in 1837, when it was proclaimed a . The commerce and shipping business grew,
the population increased and many merchants and bankers were drawn to the city. Recognition of its significance in these financial

sectors was the 1856 decision for it to serve as a seat to the Danube European Committee.®

Galati was also one of the centres of the movement to unify the two Principalities, effectuated in 1859 with the election of the
Alexandru loan Cuza, who furthermore hailed from the city, as Prince of both Moldavia and Wallachia.?

Despite the fact that during the second haf of the 19th century it remained a mgjor commercial and shipping centre, Galati developed
mainly industrially and the city’ s workers played an important part during the first phases of the socialist movement in the country.
Postwar Galati developed into one of the greatest industrial centresin Romania with leading iron and machine manufacturing industries.

Progress was made in education as well (University, Technical University).1

3. Economy

Galati was one of the most important financial centresinitialy of Moldavia and after the unification of the two principalities (1859) in all
of Romania. It was a primary export port for Moldavia, while later on played a prominent part in the country’s import trade. Since the
last decades of the 19th century, and especially during the Interwar period, it became a significant industrial centre.

3.1. Agriculture

In Galati’s mainland grew some the most productive wheat-crops in Moldavia, although the city’s reputation mainly came from its
vineyards. It should also be mentioned that timber from the principality’s hills, as well as from the neighbouring Dobrudja, was

exported through the port. Animal husbandry was insignificant.1!
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3.2. Manufacturing - Industry

A few food- processing industries and some small ship-yard workshops had been founded in Galati during the fourth and fifth decade
of the 19th century, but the industrial sector really boomed from the second half of the 19th century onwards, especially after the
measures implemented by the Romanian government to bolster up industrial activity (1886-1887).

The sector that developed most involved the comestibles market (i.e. flour industries, distilleries), even though sectors of heavy
industry were also present, such as iron manufacturing, ship-building and mainly timber process and paper companies, rather small
however up until 1914. Greek emigrants like Lambrinidis, loannis Millas and P. Zafeiratos, were prominent in the flour industry and

the confectionary market, while Jews were dominating the other industrial sections.2

During the Postwar period, industrial development increased, the emphasis shifting towards heavy industry with 13 machine
manufacturing and metallurgic sites, as well as 18 textile industries, a sector barely developed prior to 1914.13

3.3. Commer ce - Shipping

After 1837, when the port was proclaimed a free one (porto franco), Galati demonstrated incredible financia growth, one that earned
it the name “Danubian Odessa’, as was the ambition of the Moldavian Prince Mihail Sturdza. It was connected to the greatest
Mediterranean ports, such as Livorno, Trieste, Marseille, Genog, but also English ones, where it exported mainly wheat, necessary for
the rapidly growing economy of Western Europe, as well as good quality timber. At the same time, although on alesser scale, it

operated as an import centre. 14

Therole of Greek mercantile houses, especially the ones founded by Chians like P. Argentis, Rodokanakis and the Kephalonian
Panas, was cardinal regarding the increase in trade, even though the contribution of Genoan merchants, like F. Pedemonte, who

rivalled quite successfully the Greek merchant houses, should not be underrated.’

Commercia development essentially decelerated after 1880, due to a number of factors. Firstly, smaller merchants and ship-owners
were afflicted by the abolition of the “porto franco” status and consequently reacted strongly. The most important reasons, however,
were the annexation to Russia of three Bessarabian regions, which until then constituted the most fertile Moldavian mainland, as well as
the improved connection, both with railway and river-boats, of Brailawith the wheat-producing areas of Romania. One more factor
was the great development of the competitive ports of Constanta and Sulina. Galati, however, remained one of the main importing

portsin the country until 1914, as well as an exporting one, as far as timber was concerned. 1

The general deadlock afflicted the Greeks as well, who saw themselves supplanted by Jewish commercial houses as in Odessa at the
same time. Regarding shipping, however, especialy the one concerning river faring, they held their potent status. The leading Greek
ship-owners considered to be the Athanasoulis Bros, the Antypas Bros, as well as G. Koutavas. The rather small average of their
river-boats' tonnage indicate that they were largely owners of “shleps’, appropriate for the river Prut, where vessels had to be smaller

because of the shallow waters.1’
4. Society — I nstitutions — Administration
4.1. Administration

Galati was the capital of the Covurlui prefecture and also served as seat not only to political authorities, but aso to the Bishop of lower
Danube (Dundrea de Jos).

Its Greek community was one of the most significant ones in Romania. It was founded in 1864 in order to assist the construction of the
Greek-Orthodox church and the most esteemed Greeks of the town, mostly Chians, participated in its first committee. Indicatively, the
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grand merchants Andreas Panas, K onstantinos Sakoumanos, 1oannis Sekiaris, Odysseas Negrepontis, as well as the Chian doctor |.
Vouros, had served as members of the communal committee.

In 1864 the community’ s first statute was composed and printed, stating that a seven-strong committee would have the responsibility
of the communal affairs, meaning the construction of the church and the foundation of “preliminary” schools, counseled by a twelve-
strong council. In 1899, the community proceeded to a slight revisal of the 1864 statute and it was determined that from then on three
three-strong committees would be elected to tend to different duties, one for the church, the other for the educationa “ingtitutions” and
the third in order to manage the communal revenue. The communal council would continue to monitor the committees’ activities.

Lastly, during the Interwar period, the Greeks of Galati composed a third statute, revising a few points of the second one. 8

The Greek community was officially recognized by the Romanian authorities with the protocol attached to the Greek-Romanian
commercial agreement of December 19th, 1900 and, despite the problems Greeks in town met during the cease of diplomatic
relations between the two countries, they remained there until the first Postwar years, when the community was essentially dissolved
under the pressure of the communist regime.1° Greeks, however, continued to serve as churchwardens in the Greek church until the
1960's. The church re-operated after 1989.

4.2. Religion

In 1865 Andreas Panas, Dimitrios |. Rodokanakis and Sp. G. Topalis requested from the Prince Alexandru lon Cuza the permission
to build a Greek church. Their request was granted by the Prince on June 26th, 1865.2° The foundation stone was laid on August 6th,
1866 by Melchisedek, Bishop of lower Danube, and the construction of the church, dedicated to the Transfiguration of Christ the
Savior, was completed and inaugurated in September 1872 (17/09/1872).2

The church, spacious but not as grandiose as the one in Braila, was the centre of the Greek community, since around it were the
communal buildings and the school. During the Postwar period and because of the gradual decay of the Greek community, the church
was ceded to the Romanian diocese, while after 1989 it was proclaimed to be a mixed “Greco-Romanian” church.

In Galati, except the many Orthodox Romanian churches, a Bulgarian one and several Jewish synagogues, a Protestant church, a
Roman Catholic one, a Calvinist one and a mosque had also been built as early as the middle of the 19th century.?

5. Education

Education had not been systematically organised in town during the 17th and 18th centuries; a possible reason is that Galati was not a

bishopric seat.23 There are, however, records of Greek schools during the late 18th and early 19th century, such as the one directed
by Dimitrios Ithakisios.

Greek letters flourished essentialy from the middle of the 19th century onwards, during the time the Greek community dominated the
city both socidly and financially. Galati then became the most significant educational centre for the Greek diasporain Romania
Important educationa institutions were founded in town, some of them of the secondary level. The most notable ones, where alongside
the Greek and Romanian language the students were also taught foreign languages as well as commercia studies, were the Venieris
“Ingtitute” and the Ch. Mitropoulos “Greek Lyceum” founded in 1857 and 1859 respectively. Indeed in Venieris' school, which
remained open until the beginning of the 20th century, esteemed scholars served as educators, such as Christos Androutsos, later
Professor of Theology in the University of Athens, Nikolaos Dosios and Dimosthenis Rousos, Professor of Byzantine Studies in the
University of Bucharest. In Galati, moreover, as early as the sixth decade of the 19th century afew all-girls elementary schools were

also established.?4

Alongside these private establishments, communal all-boys and all-girls elementary schools existed as well, founded since 1864 and
continuing to operate until the first Postwar years. During the Postwar period, the community also took over the private gymnasium of

Dionysios Pylarinos, recognized by the Greek government since 1904.2°
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Let it be noted here that in contrast to the Braila community, where due to inter-communal dispute or interference from the Romanian
authorities the schools closed from time to time, in Galati they continued to operate smoothly, while they even remained open between
1906-1909, when almost the total of all Greek schools in Romania, either communal or private ones, were closed down by

governmental mandate.28

Romanian education was a so blooming in town, especially after the unification of the two Principalities. New buildings were
constructed for the numerous al-boys and all-girls primary schools, while an adults’ school, a Nautical Academy, a Commercial

School, atheological Seminary, aswell as a Pedagogic Academy, were also founded, the gymnasiums notwithstanding.2”

Naturally, the other ethnic and religious minorities, such as Jews, Roman Catholics or Protestants, had also founded schools. In fact,
during the period 1891-1892, the Jews kept about 25 schools, mainly elementary ones, while in 1905-1906, alongside 6 schools of

the “traditional” type, 2 modern “Judeo-Romanian” al-boys and 1 all-girls school also existed.?8 Lastly, renowned was the Roman
Catholic al-girls school of “Nétre Dame”, one of the best organised private schools in Romania, which had been accused, however,

of “de-Romanazing” the country’s youth.?
6. Associations

During the 1860s there were a few Greek associations in Galati which, athough typically of philanthropic character, essentially served
national - political purposes. The most important was the “Philanthropic Greek Association of Galati”, founded in 1861 in order to co-
ordinate the political action of Greeksliving in the city in collaboration with the Greek sub-consul, while next year the Philanthropic

Association “Pronoia’ was founded, also carrying a political, anti-Othonian agenda.%

From the beginning of the next century, the educational fellowship “Greek Philomousos Association” was founded, but its limited
activity led to arather quick dissolution. It appears that the unfaltering interest the communal committee demonstrated towards both
boys' and girls' education and towards the indigent members of the Greek community, as well as the establishment of many well-

organised Greek private schools, rendered any action on behalf of Greek associations towards those directions redundant.3! In 1896,
however, another association named “Hermes” was founded, mainly as a club and reading-study for the members of the Greek

community. This specific society was officially recognized by the Romanian authorities.3?

Lastly, during the Interwar period there was a “Greco-Romanian Commercial Chamber” operating from Galati aiming to strengthen
the commercial relations between the two countries, while an athletic club had also been founded (“Panellinion”).33

7. Publishing

During the 18th century, no printing houses existed in town; from 1830 onwards, however, the city became a notable printing centre,
considering the minimum publishing activity in Moldavia. After the Principaities’ unification, publications flourished, especialy the
periodical ones. Political, commercial and shipping newspapers circulated, as well as journals, while more than four printing houses

were in operation (i.e. Nebunelli’s and Antoniady’s). Jewish publications in Romanian and Yiddish were also significant.3*

From 1859, the number of Greek books published in Galati increased, although no comparison can be made to contemporary
activitiesin Bucharest or Braila. The publications regarded mainly school and community regulations, translations from ancient Greek

and other educational books, as well as several speeches.®

It should be mentioned, moreover, that a few Greek newspapers were published in Galati, such as Syllogoi (Associations) during the
period 1873-1877 and the notable journal Istros, the director of which was the esteemed scholar Nikolaos Dosios.
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Philanthropic Association "Pronoia" see the commentsin Anurftpng Ztopatéroviog, MetappiBuion kat ekkoopikeuan. Mpog pia avacivBeon Tng
otopiag Tou Owoupevikou Matplapyeiou Tov 190 awwva (ABfvae 2003), pp. 215-216. For associationsin general, see Kovtoyémpyng, A.M., «Ot eMnvikoi
oOAMoyot ot Povpovia kotd to 190 ardva. ZvpBorn otn perétn g avanTtuEng Tov GLAAOYIKOD PULVOUEVOD GTOV TOPOIKLOKO EAANVICHO, iN Anpdadng,
K.A. (ed.), O eMNnvikdg KOOHOG avapeTa aTnv NoXA TOoU Ala@wTIOHOU KAl 0TOV €IKOOTO awwva I (ABive 2007), pp. 91-104.

31. SeeMepi undpEewg kat aBavaciag YuxAg und Aoyikhy Enowtv und Mpnyopiou lepod. AeaBiou (Murdtot 1875), pp. I-1V.
32. See Kavoviopdg Tou ev Maalinw EAnvikoU Zwpateiou «EppAg» (ToAdtot 1897).

33. Zappng, L., «TCaraliov», MeydAn EAMnvikr Eykukhonaideia 8 (A8fva 1929), p. 31. A French and an Ottoman commercial chamber had been
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established in Galati as early as the last decade of the 19™ century, compare to Foreign Office/Annual Series, No 662, Roumania. Report for the year
1889 on the Trade and Commer ce of the Consular District of Galatz (London 1890), p. 11.

34. For the publication activity in Galati during this period, with an emphasis on Romanian publications, see Piltinea, P., Istoricul orasului Galati de
laorigine pana la 1918 I (Galati 1995), pp. 285-294.

35. Inthe bibliography of Philippos Iliou-Popi Polemi, 55 Greek publications are recorded in Galati. See IToAéun, IT., EN\nvikr BiBhoypagia 1864-1900.
ZuvonTikn avaypar|. Eloaywyr, ouvtopoypagies, eupetrpla (Abvvo. 2006), p. 65.

36. Cicanci, O., Presa de limba greaca din Romania n veacul al XIX-lea (Bucuresti 1995), p. 158. For Dosios see Papacostea-Danielopolu, C.,
Comunitat ilegrecesti din RomaniaTn secolul al XIX-lea (Bucuresti 1996), pp. 115-118.
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Bucuresti Facultatea deistorie, 2005
Stanciu §., Lazarovici Gr., Galati History and Present Times, Galati 2003

Papacostea-Danielopolu C., Comunitat ile grecesti din Roméania in secolul al XIX-lea, Bucuresti 1996

Awtvoypaopio

Old Galati , Romania pictures from eastern europe photos on webshots
http://travel .webshots.com/album/552590240Y zynRt

Primaria Municipiului Galati
http://www.primaria.galati.ro/

[Nwccdpro :
boyar

Title of the select members of the Slavic nations'aristocracy. In Russia the boyars composed an advisory committee (duma) that controlled the state's
issues during periods of transition, dynastic discords or decline of the central authorities.

free port (porto franco)

Ininternational terms free ports or porti franchi were commercial ports where the payment of customs duties, mainly for transit trade's products or for
cargo temporarily stored there, was abolished. Well-known free portsin the Mediterranean Sea were those of Trieste and Livorno and in Romaniathe
ports of Galati, Sulina, Brailaand Costanta.

TInyég

Boavovong, AL -Kapagiavog, N. (eds.), H Etatpeia twv Qidikwv kat ta mpata ovupavta tov 1821: avéxdota amouvnuovevuata,
npoknpvéeic, ypauuata k.d. keipeva (Athens 1964)

EAAnvikn Kowodtne IaAaCiov Aoyodooia Twv mempayuévwov pet” avaAvtixov nivaxoc toodoyiouov ypricews 1920-1923 (Constanta s.d.)
Kavoviouoc tne ev l'adatoiw EAAnvixc Kowdtntoc (s.l., s.d.)

Kavoviouoc tng ev F'aAaCiow EAAnviknic Kowotntog (Galati 1899)

EAAnvixn Kowotne T'aAaCiov Kavoviouoc YyndioOeic kata tny yevikny twv MeAwv ovvédevaw tne 31nc Avyovotov 1924, xat te0cic ev 1o xvi
éva unva axpipac petda v Yngroiv tov (Athens 1926)

Kavoviouog tov ev FaAaCiov EAAnvikov Zwuateiov «Epurc» (Galati 1897)

Xvvéxewa tov v’ apif. 89 Iapaptiuatos e E¢nuepidos tnc Kvpepvioewc tov étovg 1890. Etnotot exOéoelg mepl epmopiov vavtidiac x.T.A.
Twv mpo&evikay apxwv e A.M. katd to étoc 1889 (Athens 1890)

Metalac-Aaokagatog, A, EAAnvixai napoikiat Pwooiac kat Popovvias (Braila 1900)
Ancheta Industriald din 1901-1902, Industria Mare (Bucuresti 1902)

Colescu, L., Recensimintul general al Populatiunei Romdniei. Rezulatate definitive (Bucuresti 1905)
Paianu, N.I., Industria Mare 1866-1906 (Bucuresti 1906)

Pacu, M., Cartea judetului Covurlui (Bucuresti 1891)
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Tezaur documentar galdtean (Bucuresti 1988)
[Mopobépata
Extract of the first statute of the Greek community of Galati

Ot évT'adatoiw nagotkovvtes "EAANVEG, cuveABIVTEG eig v kal Aafdvtes UM OPLv dadOQoug EDIKAS AVAYKAG TG €V Th) MOAEL
tavTn 0Aopedelag avT@v, anodaivovtat.

Ap0Oop. 1. Zuviotatal EMTapeANG EMITQOM), OKOTIOC THG OTolAG lvat v YEVEL PEV 1] TooaywyT) TV ROV kat DAtV
OoLUPEQEOVTWYV TNG OAOpEAE(RS, WDiwG dE 1) CVOTACLIS KALT] CLVTHENOLS EKKANOIXG, TEOKATAQKTIKOD 0XOAEIOV, VOOOKOME(OV Kkal
otovdmote AAAOL PIAAVOQWTIIKOD KATACTIUATOS, AQXOHUEVT) ATIO TOD KAT ATV AVAYKALOTEQOU.

‘Ev TaAatoio v 19 Tavovapiov 1864

H EIITPOITH:

A.TTANAY L. XEKIAPHX

K. ZAKOYMAKOZX I. A. BOYPOX

A.POAOKANAKHY L. BAIAY

O. NEI'PEIIONTHZ

Kavoviopoc tnc év I'edatoiow EAAnvixnc Kowétnroc (s.1., s.d), pp. 1, 5

Extract of the second statute of the Greek community of Galati
KepaAaiov A,

10\7

Apbpov

H év TaAaliw EAANvkn Kowdtng amotedeitat ék mavtwv v €v 1) moAet tadtn EAAN VOV TOALITOV TOV kataBaAAGVTLV
TAKTIKGWG TIV KEKAVOVIOUEVNV ETNoiay avTOV CLVOQOUNV.

Agv dUvavtat va OUmapfwot péAn g Kowvdtntog ol O atipwtikny mea&v katadikaoOévies, kabws kal ol Onwodnmote dnaé

dlxypadévteg €k ToD UNTe@oL TV MeAwv avtnig, mpotdoet s Kowortueg Emtponnc, kai pet’ anodaowy g 'evikig
ZuveAevoews AapBavouévny dix mAetovoyndiag Tov ¥ TV magdvtwy kata v Luvédevoy MeAwv.

AgBgov 2V
‘H Kowo6tng okomov mpotiBetal v ovvrionotv kat BeAtiwotv o0 tepod avtng Naod kal twv ZXoA@V dudotéowv tov GVAwY,
opoiwg d¢ kal TNV dovov MAVTOg PLAaVOEWTILKOD 1) AAAOL KaOWEVUATOC, EEVTINEETODVTOG TNV KOWVWVIKTV KL 10KV

npoaywynv ¢ &v F'aAalio EAANVIKNG magotkinag £vtog TV 0giwv twv Povpavicev Nopwv.

Kavoviouoc tnc év TaAaCiov EAAnvixic Kowotntos (Galati 1899), p. 1.



